#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RUBY DUNCAN, RABBI MEL HECHT, HOWARD WAJUS 12 2016 04:29 p.m.

LEORA OLIVAS, AND ADAM BERGER, Tracie K. Lindeman

Appellants, Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA OFFICE OF THE STATE TREASURER, NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, DAN SCHWARTZ, AND STEVE CANAVERO,

Respondents.

On Appeal from a Final Judgment of the District Court for Clark County, Nevada Case No. A-15-723703-C, Hon. Eric Johnson

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

#### AMY M. ROSE

American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada 601 S. Rancho Drive, Suite B-11 Las Vegas, NV 89106 (703) 366-1536 rose@aclunv.org

Daniel Mach\*
Heather L. Weaver\*
American Civil Liberties Union

#### INTRODUCTION

Article XI of the Nevada Constitution requires the State to provide a meaningful system of secular public instruction through public schools that are open equally to all Nevada students; the State may not fund religious instruction, religious institutions, or schools that discriminate against students based on their faith or other exclusionary criteria. See Nev. Const. art. XI, §§ 2, 10. Parents may choose to send their children to religious schools, but the Constitution guarantees that Nevada taxpayers will not have to foot the bill. In that way, the Nevada Constitution ensures a strong, viable system of free public education for all, and protects against public funds being used to promote any particular religion.

Senate Bill 302, 78th Reg. Sess. (Nov. 2015), cannot be squared with these clear constitutional mandates. If permitted to take effect, the program will direct millions of dollars in state educational funds to religious schools—including schools that require students to participate in religious rituals and that discriminate in admissions based on protected characteristics such as religion, sexual orientation, and gender identity. What is more, the state funding for religious instruction and discriminatory admissions comes at the expense of the

existing system of public schools. The challenged voucher program thus directly contravenes at least two provisions of the Nevada Constitution and more than 130 years of this Court's precedent.

Article XI, Section 10, of the Nevada Constitution provides: "No public funds of any kind or character whatever, State, County or Municipal, shall be used for sectarian purpose." This Court has strictly enforced that No-Aid Clause, interpreting it to bar any expenditure of public funds that directly or indirectly supports religious activities or institutions. S.B. 302's funding of religious schools cannot be reconciled with Section 10's strict prohibition against the use of state funding for sectarian purposes.

Article XI, Section 2, directs that "[t]he legislature shall provide for a uniform system of common schools" that may not offer "instruction of a sectarian character" but must instead, be open equally for "general attendance" by all schoolchildren. By funding private and religious schools that discriminate in admissions using taxpayer dollars specially appropriated for public education, the State is creating a two-track system of publicly financed education, in which educational opportunities are dictated by religious belief, sexual orientation, gender identity, and other characteristics. Moreover, private schools vary

widely in their curricula and practices. That is especially true for religious schools, which are exempt from state educational regulations and frequently mandate worship and require even supposedly secular subjects to conform to religious doctrine rather than Nevada's academic standards. S.B. 302 thus likewise cannot be squared with the requirements of Section 2.

In dismissing this case, the district court relied on unprecedented interpretations of both provisions of Article XI.

First, Nevada's Founders crafted Section 10 to provide especially robust and straightforward protection against any taxpayer aid—whether direct or indirect—to religious schools; in that respect, the safeguards are even stronger than those provided under the federal Establishment Clause. But disregarding that strong constitutional commitment and this Court's clear Section 10 jurisprudence, the district court erroneously decided that Section 10 is merely coterminous with the Establishment Clause, under which some voucher programs have been permitted, and reduced Section 10 to a bare legislative-intent test. Section 10 requires more. Much more.

Second, the district court gave virtually no effect to the Nevada Constitution's robust safeguards for secular public education. It construed Section 2 to have no effect even on state action that severely impairs the State's enduring promise to provide public education—unless that action shutters the entire public-school system.

If the lower court's interpretation of Sections 2 and 10 is allowed to stand, the result will not just give short shrift to Article XI's constitutional protections, it will gut them. For these reasons and more, the Court should reverse the district court's Order and remand for consideration of Plaintiffs' claims on the merits.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order of the Eighth Judicial District Court in Clark County issued on May 18, 2016, dismissing Plaintiffs' Complaint in its entirety. See RA Vol. 13, at 2944–2988. The Order is a final judgment appealable under N.R.A.P. 3A(b)(1). On June 24, 2016, Plaintiffs timely filed and served a notice of entry of the Dismissal Order and notice of appeal.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the district court err in construing Article XI, Section 10, of the Nevada Constitution to prohibit only those legislative appropriations expressly intended to promote religion, *contra State v. Hallock*, 16 Nev. 373, 378–88 (1882), and in holding that S.B. 302

permissibly directs public funds to private religious schools to pay for religious instruction?

- 2. Did the district court err in construing Article XI, Section 2, to prohibit only state action that would entirely shutter Nevada's public-school system, and in holding that S.B. 302 permissibly directs funds specifically appropriated for public-education funds to private schools that do not follow uniform curricula and hiring and testing practices and do not allow universal attendance, thereby undermining the effective operation of the public-school system?
- 3. Did the district court err when it rejected factual allegations in the Complaint, instead of accepting them as true on a motion to dismiss, based on the view that Plaintiffs lack standing to make those allegations?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint in August 2015, challenging—under Sections 2 and 10 of Article XI of the Nevada Constitution—the Nevada Education Savings Account Program enacted by S.B. 302. RA Vol. 1, at 1–21. In September 2015, six parents, who wish to send their children to private schools at public expense, moved to intervene as defendants and filed their Answer. RA Vol 1, at 24–39, 80–143. In

October 2015, Defendants (collectively, "the State") moved to dismiss this action. RA Vol. 2, at 233–335. In November 2015, Plaintiffs moved for a preliminary injunction, and the parties fully briefed that motion. After the briefing was completed, the court below ordered three additional rounds of briefing on whether there were disputed issues of fact. On May 18, 2016, the district court issued its order declining to rule on Plaintiffs' motion for preliminary injunction and granting the State's motion to dismiss. RA Vol. 13, at 2944–88.

Meanwhile, another set of plaintiffs filed a separate lawsuit seeking to enjoin the S.B. 302 program; the District Court in Carson City preliminarily enjoined the voucher program under Sections 6.1 and 6.2 of Article XI. The State's appeal of the preliminary injunction is currently pending in this Court. See Lopez v. Schwartz, No. 15-0C-00207-1B (filed Sep. 9, 2015), on appeal as No. 69611.

The Court expedited briefing in this appeal so that oral argument in both cases could be heard on July 29.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. The Voucher Program.

Senate Bill 302, signed into law on June 2, 2015, establishes a voucher program that authorizes taxpayer dollars to flow to private schools, including religious ones. See S.B. 302; RA Vol. 1, at 5, ¶ 16.

Under S.B. 302, any school-age child in Nevada is eligible to receive a religious education at taxpayers' expense once he or she has been enrolled in a public school for 100 consecutive days. RA Vol. 1, at 5, ¶ 17 (citing S.B. 302 § 7).

When an eligible student applies for a voucher, the Office of the Treasurer will draw funds from the State's Distributive School Account (a special legislative appropriation from the State General Fund that is earmarked for the public-school system) and deposit the money into a voucher account (formally labeled an "Education Savings Account"). S.B. 302 § 9. Voucher money may be used solely for a narrow set of approved expenses—including tuition at private religious schools, and religious instructional materials for use at those schools. Id. For students with disabilities and students residing in households with an income less than 185% above the federal poverty line, the amount transferred is equal to the statewide average per-pupil educational expenditure; for all other students, 90% of that amount is transferred. See RA Vol. 1, at 6,  $\P\P$  22–23 (citing S.B. 302 § 8.2). The statewide average per-pupil support rate for Fiscal Year 2016 is estimated to be \$5,669. *Id.* ¶ 21.

The voucher law mandates that the amount "deposited in education savings accounts established on behalf of children who reside in [a] county" be deducted on a dollar-for-dollar basis from the funds that would otherwise have been provided to that county's public schools. *Id.* ¶ 24 (S.B. 302 § 16.1). Any unspent voucher funds revert to the State's General Fund (S.B. 302 § 8.6(b))—not to the Distributive School Account from which they were drawn, and where they would have been available to support public education.

Any private school that is licensed under NRS §§ 394 et seq. or is exempt from licensing under NRS § 394.211 is deemed a "participating entity" in the voucher program. RA Vol. 1, at 7, ¶ 26 (citing S.B. 302 § 5). "Elementary and secondary educational institutions operated by churches, religious organizations, and faith based ministries" are exempt entities under NRS § 394.211.1(d), meaning that they are not subject to the requirements that apply to public or licensed (secular) private schools. Nevertheless, these exempt schools are eligible to receive state educational funds through the voucher program. RA Vol. 1, at 7, ¶ 26. At the time of the Complaint, 66 of Nevada's 110 private schools were exempt religious schools. Id. at 8, ¶ 35.

As alleged in the Complaint, these exempt religious schools have curricula, instruction, admissions policies, and hiring practices that diverge dramatically from what is required in Nevada's public schools or in sec private schools. *Id.* at 3, ¶ 6. Many discriminate in admissions and enrollment based on students' or their families' faith, religious practice, and other religiously based criteria, including sexual orientation, gender identity, and compliance with religious codes of conduct. Id. at 15–18,  $\P\P$  69–79. Many discriminate on similar grounds in employment. Id. Moreover, most use curricula that instruct students the religious beliefs of the school's sponsoring denomination (id. at 12–15,  $\P\P$  55–68); and many require students to take part in religious worship (id. ¶¶ 55, 62, 65). S.B. 302 does not require participating schools to change these practices; nor does it place any restrictions on how participating schools may use voucher funds. Indeed, Section 14 of S.B. 302 states that "nothing in the provisions of [this Act] shall be deemed to limit the independence or autonomy of a participating entity."

In short, the Complaint unequivocally and in great detail alleges that the voucher program will funnel public funds to religious schools that will use the money for religious purposes and will exclude would-be churchill County, Elko County, and Carson City, for example—there are *no* secular private schools; the *only* private schools are religious ones. RA Vol. 1, at 8, ¶ 37. Accordingly, students in those locales who wish to attend a voucher school will be forced to attend a religious institution—assuming, of course, that they are able to overcome discriminatory admissions requirements at those schools.¹

Further, the amount of taxpayer dollars diverted to private and religious schools will be massive, because the Nevada voucher program is unprecedented in scope. Unlike voucher programs in other states, the Nevada program places no ceiling on the number of students who may participate statewide and no cap on the amount of public funds that may be reallocated from the Distributive School Account to private schools. *Id.* at 6, ¶ 25. And by allowing students to obtain vouchers merely by attending public school for 100 days, the legislature has created strong incentives for current private-school students to transfer to a public school for a few short months, only to return to their private

Confirming that taxpayer dollars will be diverted to religious schools if the voucher program is not enjoined, the Intervenors have specifically stated that they intend to send students to such schools using voucher funds. See RA Vol. 1, at 106, ¶ 14; 115, ¶ 23; 121–22, ¶¶ 33–34; 129, ¶¶ 23, 27, 29; 136–42, ¶¶ 19, 32, 41, 51 (Mot. to Intervene Exs. A–E).

schools later the same year, armed with taxpayer dollars to finance their religious educations. Id. at 5, ¶ 17.

In July 2015, the Treasurer began accepting early applications for vouchers. Id. at 7, ¶ 32. When the voucher program was enjoined by the Lopez court, the Treasurer was mere weeks away from disbursing public funds to private religious schools that would spend the money on religion and would provide services on a discriminatory basis. Id. ¶¶ 30–32.

#### B. Plaintiffs.

Ruby Duncan is a mother and grandmother who lives and pays sales tax in Nevada. Id. at 3, ¶ 8. Rabbi Mel Hecht is a retired congregational rabbi who lives and pays taxes in Nevada. Id. at 4, ¶ 9. Howard Watts III is a member of the Las Vegas community who was born, raised, resides, and pays taxes in Nevada. Id. ¶ 10. Leora Olivas is similarly a member of the Las Vegas community who lives and pays taxes in Nevada. Id. ¶ 11. Adam Berger is not only a resident and taxpayer in Nevada but also a special-education teacher in a Nevada public school and the parent of a Nevada public-school student. Id. ¶ 12. Plaintiffs all object to the use of their tax dollars to fund private religious schools. Id. ¶ 8–12.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court below court committed three categories of error that warrant reversal and remand for adjudication of Plaintiffs' claims on the merits.

First, the district court erred in interpreting Nevada's No-Aid Clause, Nev. Const. art. XI, § 10, as coterminous with the federal Establishment Clause—an approach that is contrary to both the No-Aid Clause's plain language and this Court's binding precedent. See State v. Hallock, 16 Nev. 373, 378–88 (1882). In mistakenly focusing on the federal Establishment Clause, the court construed Section 10 to restrict only those appropriations for which the legislature openly and expressly intends to advance religion, reducing Section 10 to a pale shadow of itself. As *Hallock* held, the legislature and citizens of this state passed Section 10 to provide strong protections against funding religious entities like the private, religious schools that will receive taxpayer money under S.B. 302. And the U.S. Supreme Court has recognized that this enhanced protection for state antiestablishment interests is both permissible and proper. It should be respected.

Second, the court below incorrectly concluded that Article XI, Section 1, confers authority to enact whatever educational programs the legislature may deem "suitable" for the "promotion of intellectual... improvements" and other aims, without regard to the express limitations in the rest of Article XI. The court thus determined that Section 2 provides no restrictions on the legislature other than to bar the complete abolishment of Nevada's public schools. But "suitable" in Section 1 is a word of limitation; at minimum, any means that violate Sections 2 through 10 are unsuitable as a matter of law. And because S.B. 302 establishes a publicly funded system of private education that is not uniform, secular, or open to all, and does so at the expense of Nevada's public schools and their students, it violates Article XI, Section 2. The district court's interpretation of Sections 1 and 2 would effectively eviscerate Article XI's protections.

Third, in rendering these erroneous interpretations of Article XI, the court misapplied the motion-to-dismiss standard by ignoring two categories of facts that were properly alleged in the Complaint: first, that private religious schools participating in the voucher program discriminate on the basis of religion, sexual orientation, pregnancy status, and other factors; and second, that the voucher program will defund and thereby undermine public education in Nevada. The court below cast aside these allegations because it improperly believed that

Plaintiffs lack standing to allege these facts. Standing, however, determines a plaintiff's ability to make a claim, not to assert factual allegations. Moreover, the discarded allegations are highly relevant to determining whether the State's use of taxpayer dollars under S.B. 302 violates the Nevada Constitution. These allegations should have been accepted as true and incorporated into the court's analysis of the Motion to Dismiss.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A district court order granting an NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss is subject to rigorous appellate review." Munda v. Summerlin Life & Health Ins. Co., 127 Nev. 918, 267 P.3d 771, 774 (2011) (noting that review is de novo). The Court is "bound to accept all the factual allegations in the complaint as true" (Marcoz v. Summa Corp., 106 Nev. 737, 739 (1990)), and must "construe[] the pleading liberally, drawing every inference in favor of the nonmoving party" (Citizens for Cold Springs v. City of Reno, 125 Nev. 625, 629 (2009)). "In reviewing the district court's dismissal order, every reasonable inference is drawn in the plaintiffs' favor." Munda, 267 P.3d at 774. "A claim should not be dismissed . . . unless it appears to a certainty that the plaintiff is not

entitled to relief under any set of facts which could be proved in support of the claim." *Hale v. Burkhardt*, 104 Nev. 632, 636 (1988).

#### ARGUMENT

# I. Appellants Have Stated A Claim Under Article XI, Section 10, of The Nevada Constitution.

The court below wrongly held that Nevada's No-Aid Clause (NEV. CONST. art. XI, § 10) is functionally identical to the differently worded federal Establishment Clause, and therefore presents no bar to the challenged voucher program because the program would supposedly be permissible under federal law. RA Vol. 13, at 2979–80. That ruling cannot be squared with either Section 10's plain language or this Court's definitive interpretation of Section 10. The No-Aid Clause flatly prohibits both the flow of public funds to religious institutions and the purchase of religious services with public funds. Hallock, 16 Nev. at 378–88. Plaintiffs alleged that the voucher program does exactly what the No-Aid Clause proscribes: It allows public money to be used for religious purposes. Hence, Plaintiffs have stated a claim for relief under Section 10, and the order of dismissal should be reversed.

# A. The Nevada Constitution provides robust protections for the State's important antiestablishment interests.

Article XI, Section 10, is straightforward: "No public funds of any kind or character whatever, State, County or Municipal, shall be used

for sectarian purpose." As the U.S. Supreme Court recognized in *Locke*  $v.\ Davey$ , state constitutional no-aid provisions like this one can and do afford stricter protections for state antiestablishment interests than federal law provides. 540 U.S. 712, 720–723, 124 S. Ct. 1307, 1312–15 (2004). And as this Court held in Hallock, that is precisely the choice that Nevada made. The district court's decision thus flies in the face of the binding precedent of Hallock, and in so doing, it renders the No-Aid Clause toothless, thereby defeating the intent of the Nevada legislature and citizenry in adopting that Clause.

# 1. By its plain language, the No-Aid Clause forbids all public funding of religious institutions.

When a constitutional provision "is clear and unambiguous," this Court "will not look beyond the language of the provision but will instead apply its plain meaning." *Lorton v. Jones*, 322 P.3d 1051, 1054 (Nev. 2014); *accord*, *e.g.*, *In re Contested Election of Mallory*, 282 P.3d 739, 741 (Nev. 2012). The language of the No-Aid Clause could not be clearer: "public funds" must not be "used for sectarian purpose." As numerous courts in other states have held when interpreting their own state constitutions' no-aid clauses, Section 10 provides greater protections than the federal Establishment Clause does.

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