#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RUBY DUNCAN, an individual; RABBI MEL HECHT, an individual; HOWARD WATTS III, an individual; LEORA OLIVAS, an individual; ADAM BERGER, an individual,

Appellants,

v.

STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel. the Office of the State Treasurer of Nevada and the Nevada Department of Education; DAN SCHWARTZ, in his official capacity as Treasurer of the State of Nevada; STEVE CANAVERO, in his official capacity as Interim Superintendent of Public Instruction,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 70648

Electronically Filed Jul 22-2016 11:07 a.m. C Clerk of Supreme Court

#### **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

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

uniform system of common schools, free from religious instruction and open to general attendance by all Nevada children." R.2968.<sup>17</sup>

Plaintiffs argue that Section 1 confines the Legislature to encouraging education "through the public-education system." Br.46 (emphasis omitted). But text, history, and precedent all point in the opposite direction. The text of Section 1 contains no public-education limitation; it instead authorizes the Legislature to encourage education by "all" suitable means. And the history of Article 11 aligns with that conclusion. In the Constitutional Convention, the Delegates decided to grant the Legislature broad discretion over education and decided not to make public education compulsory. See Debates 565-574; Appellant's Reply Br.7-8, Schwartz v. Lopez (quoting the statements of Delegates McClinton, Collins, and Warwick). When they gave the Legislature the power to encourage education by "all suitable means," they meant just that. Moreover, this Court's decision in State ex rel. Keith v. Westerfield, 23 Nev. 468, 49 P. 119 (1897), disproves Plaintiffs' claim that the State may encourage education only through the public-school

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> This Court explained long ago that the uniformity requirement in Section 2 is concerned with maintaining uniformity *within* the public-school system. It is aimed at avoiding certain differences between public schools in different parts of Nevada. *See State v. Tilford*, 1 Nev. 240, 245 (1865) (upholding, pursuant to Section 2, the Legislature's abolition of the Storey County Board of Education as part of the Legislature's creation of a new public-school system because the "system of schools was different [in Storey County] from that in any other county"). SB 302 has no effect on uniformity among the Nevada public schools.

system. The Court held in that case that the Legislature could spend money from the General Fund to pay the salary of a teacher at the state orphans' home, which was *not* a public school.

Plaintiffs invoke the *expressio unius* maxim—"the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another"—contending that, because the Legislature must provide for a uniform public-school system, it cannot support private educational options. Br.48-49. But Plaintiffs fail to appreciate that Sections 1 and 2 express *two* things. *See* R.2966 ("the framers indicated they intended to create two duties" that are "separate and distinct"). Section 1 empowers the Legislature to encourage education by "all suitable means." Section 2 merely requires the Legislature to encourage education through one of those means—a uniform public-school system. R.2968. *See also* Appellant's Reply Br.10-11 & nn.5-6, *Schwartz v. Lopez.* 

Plaintiffs also claim that the ESA program will "rob[] the public schools of the money necessary to provide a meaningful education to Nevada's children," relying on nothing more than the fact that any Nevada child is eligible for the program after 100 days of public schooling. Br.52-53. But there is no reason to believe that is correct, and such speculation cannot support a facial challenge to a statute that has not even gone into effect, which requires Plaintiffs to prove that there is "no set of circumstances under which the statute can be constitutionally applied." R.2986 (quoting *Deja Vu*, 334 P.3d at 398).

The Supreme Courts of Indiana, North Carolina, and Wisconsin have all upheld educational-choice programs against challenges similar to Plaintiffs' attack on this ground. See Meredith, 984 N.E.2d 1213 (Ind.); Hart v. State, 774 S.E.2d 281 (N.C. 2015); Jackson, 578 N.W.2d 602 (Wis.); Davis v. Grover, 480 N.W.2d 460 (Wis. 1992). Each of these cases involved a state constitutional provision requiring the legislature to establish a "uniform" public school system. See Ind. Const. art. 8, §1; N.C. Const. art. IX, §2(1); Wis. Const. art. X, §3. Indiana's Constitution, in particular, is strikingly similar to Nevada's; it gives the legislature the authority to encourage education "by all suitable means." Ind. Const. art. 8, §1. The sound reasons offered by the Indiana, North Carolina, and Wisconsin Supreme Courts for rejecting the "uniformity" attacks apply here. The Legislature's constitutional power to encourage education by "all suitable means," held the Indiana Supreme Court, permits the Legislature to enact a choice program. Meredith, 984 N.E.2d at 1224-25 & nn.17-18. The duty to provide for a uniform public school system, explained the Wisconsin Supreme Court, is "not a ceiling but a floor upon which the legislature can build additional opportunities for school children." Jackson, 578 N.W.2d at 628. A choice program, the same court said, "in no way deprives any student the opportunity to attend a public school with a uniform character of education." Davis, 480 N.W.2d at 474. The uniformity

mandate, the North Carolina Supreme Court wrote, applies only to the public school system "and does not prohibit the General Assembly from funding educational initiatives outside of that system." *Hart*, 774 S.E.2d at 290.

Plaintiffs get no help from Bush v. Holmes, 919 So.2d 392 (Fla. 2006). Br.49-51. Bush struck down a Florida program under Article IX of the Florida Constitution, which makes it a "paramount duty of the state to make adequate provision for the education of all children residing within its borders" by means of a "uniform, efficient, safe, secure, and high quality system of free public schools." Fla. Const. art. IX, §1(a). Bush read the first sentence in that section, with its "paramount duty" language, as imposing a duty on the legislature to provide for education and construed the second sentence of that section concerning a "uniform" system of free public schools as a *restriction* on how the legislature may make that provision. Bush held that the Florida program violated the second sentence by "devoting the state's resources to the education of children within our state through means other than a system of free public schools." Bush, 919 So.2d at 407.

Significantly, *Bush* distinguished the Wisconsin decision, *Davis*, on the ground that the "education article of the Wisconsin Constitution construed in *Davis*" lacks language "analogous" to Florida's constitutional statement that it is a "paramount duty" of the state to make "adequate provision" for the education of all

Florida children. *Bush*, 919 So.2d at 407 n.10. *Bush*'s distinction of *Davis* thus distinguishes this case; the Nevada Constitution, like Wisconsin's, does not contain Florida's "paramount duty" and "adequate provision" language that *Bush* found distinguishing and dispositive.

The Indiana Supreme Court's decision in *Meredith* confirms this analysis. Meredith distinguished Bush based on Bush's distinction of Davis and the Wisconsin Constitution. See Meredith, 984 N.E.2d at 1224 ("Like the Wisconsin Constitution, the Indiana Constitution contains no analogous 'adequate provision' clause."). The Indiana Supreme Court also distinguished Bush based on the "all suitable means" clause in the Indiana Constitution. Indiana's Constitution is the most similar to Nevada's because it contains an "all suitable means" clause as well as a "uniform system of Common Schools" clause. Ind. Const. art. 8, §1. Meredith held that the legislature's duty to provide for a uniform system of common schools "cannot be read as a restriction on the first duty" to encourage education by all suitable means. 984 N.E.2d at 1224. The legislature has a duty "generally to encourage improvement in education in Indiana, and this imperative is broader than and in addition to the duty to provide for a system of common schools. Each may be accomplished without reference to the other." Id. So too here. The Nevada Constitution, like the Indiana Constitution, empowers the Legislature to promote education by "all suitable means" and lacks the language on which the Bush Court relied.

Here, the District Court correctly rejected Plaintiffs' reliance on *Bush*, explaining that the "consistent use of the term 'adequate provision' that existed between the sentences of the Florida constitution section does not exist in Article XI, sections 1 and 2 of our State's Constitution." R.2969. *Bush*, in sum, is an outlier, a decision based on particular language in the Florida Constitution that differs markedly from the Nevada Constitution. No court outside of Florida has ever used *Bush* to strike down an educational-choice statute. This Court should not be the first.

## IV. Plaintiffs Lack Standing to Challenge SB 302 Because Nevada Law Does Not Recognize Taxpayer Standing.

Beyond the substantive flaws in Plaintiffs' legal claims, they have no standing to bring a facial or as-applied constitutional challenge to SB 302. "Standing is the legal right to set judicial machinery in motion." *Heller v. Legislature of State of Nev.*, 120 Nev. 456, 460, 93 P.3d 746, 749 (2004) (quotation marks omitted). It is a jurisdictional requirement. *Id.* at 461, 93 P.3d at 749. In this case, Plaintiffs are five taxpayers who state that they "object[] to the use of [their] taxes to fund private and religious schools." R.3-4.

But Nevada does not recognize taxpayer standing. See Citizens for Cold Springs v. City of Reno, 125 Nev. 625, 630, 218 P.3d 847, 850 (2009); Doe v. Bryan, 102 Nev. 523, 525, 728 P.2d 443, 444 (1986); Blanding v. City of Las *Vegas*, 52 Nev. 52, 280 P. 644, 650 (1929). And the District Court recognized that this Court has never found that "taxpayer standing is available in Nevada." R.2954; *see also Little v. First Jud. Dist. Ct.*, No. 67630, 2016 WL 3749050, at \*1 (Nev. July 12, 2016) (unpublished disposition) (denying mandamus petition that asked this Court "to require the district court to recognize" petitioner's standing as a taxpayer to challenge a Nevada statute).<sup>18</sup>

As *Blanding* explained, a taxpayer cannot maintain a suit "where he has not sustained or is not threatened with any injury peculiar to himself as distinguished from the public generally." *Id.* at 650. Furthermore, "in cases for declaratory relief and where constitutional matters arise, this court has required plaintiffs to meet increased"—not reduced—"jurisdictional standing requirements." *Stockmeier v. Nev. Dep't of Corrs. Psych. Review Panel*, 122 Nev. 385, 393, 135 P.3d 220, 225-26 (2006) (footnotes omitted), *abrogated on other grounds by Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 181 P.3d 670 (2008). Here, the District Court recognized that the "increased jurisdictional standing requirements" apply here because Plaintiffs sought "a statute to be declared unconstitutional." R.2955. Certainly nothing in SB 302's text purports to confer Plaintiffs with standing—unlike many Nevada laws that grant statutory standing. *See, e.g., Stockmeier*, 122

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> For further briefing on this Court's long-standing refusal to recognize general taxpayer standing, *see* R.1617-20 (Nevada's Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction and Failure to State a Claim).

Nev. at 394, 135 P.3d at 226; *Hantges v. City of Henderson*, 121 Nev. 319, 323, 113 P.3d 848, 850 (2005).

This leaves Plaintiffs with a fatal problem: "increased" standing requirements apply as their attack is constitutional; they seek declaratory relief; and they make no pretense to statutory standing. Yet they stake their claim to invoke the judicial machinery on the one thing that plainly does not suffice—their status as Nevada taxpayers. Most Nevada adults are taxpayers and all Nevadans possess an interest in seeing State funds expended constitutionally. That universal condition, by definition, cannot be injury "peculiar to" Plaintiffs. In *Blanding*, 52 Nev. at 52, 280 P. at 645, plaintiffs sought to enjoin Las Vegas from vacating part of a street; in affirming the dismissal, this Court rejected as "untenable" the plaintiffs' argument that "as taxpayers" they could maintain such an action "without showing special injury." *Id.* at 650.

The District Court nevertheless decided that it could "justify taxpayer standing" in this particular case, R.2959, even though Plaintiffs could not "demonstrate any peculiar injury to themselves from that suffered by any other taxpayer." R.2961. The court attempted to limit the scope of that puzzling holding by emphasizing that taxpayer standing allowed Plaintiffs "to bring the facial challenge to the [ESA] statute"—but not as-applied challenges, as Plaintiffs "have not personally suffered any harm." R.2962. That gets things backwards. A facial

challenge is *broader* and more disfavored than an as-applied challenge. In a facial attack, a plaintiff asserts that "no set of circumstances exists under which [a law] would be valid, *i.e.*, that the law is unconstitutional in all of its applications." *Wash. State Grange v. Wash. State Republican Party*, 552 U.S. 442, 449 (2008) (quotation marks omitted). If Plaintiffs "have not personally suffered any harm" to justify an as-applied attack, it should follow *a fortiori* that they lack standing to bring a facial challenge.<sup>19</sup>

Plaintiffs, before this Court, admit that their lawsuit rests entirely on the "expenditure of Plaintiffs' tax dollars" and the "diversion of Plaintiffs' tax dollars from the public schools." Br.58. Their "claims," Plaintiffs acknowledge, are "premised" on the "harm of having their tax money spent" in ways they do not like. Br.59. The problem is that Plaintiffs, like the District Court, cite no binding authority to suggest that "having their tax money spent" undesirably or even impermissibly is a "legally cognizable harm" allowing every taxpayer to sue. Br.59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Plaintiffs suggest that their lack of particularized injury is not an obstacle to *either* an as-applied *or* a facial challenge. Br.61-63. This is so, Plaintiffs argue, because both challenges have "aspects" that "are intertwined." Br.63. Relying primarily on lower-court authority and academic commentary, Plaintiffs suggest that the "line between facial and as-applied challenges is often blurry." Br.62. But however blurry in some cases, here it is plain that Plaintiffs mount pre-enforcement facial challenges that are the most "difficult challenge to mount successfully." *Salerno*, 481 U.S. at 745.

The District Court noted that federal courts sometimes recognize taxpayer standing for Establishment Clause concerns. R.2960-61. But Plaintiffs have pointedly not brought suit under the federal Establishment Clause, and they should not be permitted to have their cake and eat it too. Having consciously eschewed the substance of the federal Establishment Clause (under which the ESAs are unambiguously valid), they should not be allowed to take advantage of a procedural quirk of the federal Establishment Clause, which is itself on shaky ground. *See, e.g., Hein v. Freedom From Religion Found., Inc.*, 551 U.S. 587 (2007).

Plaintiffs argued below that one of their number, Adam Berger, has standing because he is a public-school teacher and the parent of a child in public school. But Plaintiffs do not explain how the constitutional violations that they allege injure Mr. Berger or his son. With respect to Plaintiffs' Section 10 claim, if other parents and students choose to spend ESA funds at religiously affiliated schools, that does not injure Mr. Berger except in his capacity as a taxpayer, which does not confer standing. With respect to Plaintiffs' Section 2 claim, Mr. Berger may continue to teach at, and his son may continue to attend, a uniform public school. They are not injured if others use ESA funds at schools at which Mr. Berger does not teach and his son does not attend. Even if Plaintiffs explained how Mr. Berger and his son might be injured by the ESA program, such injury would be

much too "conjectural or hypothetical" or "speculative" to satisfy Nevada's standing requirements. *Miller v. Ignacio*, 112 Nev. 930, 936 n.4, 921 P.2d 882, 885 n.4 (1996).

Plaintiffs take issue with the District Court's statement that they lack standing to allege that (1) private schools receiving ESA funds will discriminate based on religion or (2) the ESA program will cause a "drastic curtailment" of public-school funding. R.2950-51; *see* Br.56-60. But the court did not "refuse[] to consider" the allegations. Br.55. It expressly considered both allegations at length in connection with Plaintiffs' §2 and §10 claims. *See* R.2970-71, 2986-87. What the court held, correctly, was that Plaintiffs could not bring an as-applied challenge to SB 302 based on these allegations because "they have not personally suffered the harm and have no actual justiciable controversy." R.2970.

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